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EDWARDS, Senior Circuit Judge.

Opinion for the Court filed by Senior Circuit Judge
EDWARDS.

EDWARDS, Senior Circuit Judge:  Cogburn Health Center,
Inc. (also referred to by the Board as Cogburn Healthcare
Center, Inc.) (“Cogburn” or “Company”), a nursing home in
Mobile, Alabama, petitions this court for review of an order of
the National Labor Relations Board (“Board”), and the Board
cross-applies for enforcement.   On July 19, 1996, the Board
held a secret-ballot election to determine whether the employees
in a designated bargaining unit at Cogburn desired to be
represented by the United Food and Commercial Workers
Union, Local 1657, AFL-CIO (“Union”).  The election results
indicated that 52 employees cast votes in favor of the Union, and
72 against.  The Union then filed unfair labor practice (“ULP”)
charges with the Board, and a complaint was issued.   The
complaint charged that a majority of the employees in an
appropriate unit at Cogburn had selected the Union as their
bargaining representative by signing authorization cards; that, in
April 1996, Cogburn had rejected the Union’s request to bargain
on behalf of the employees; that Cogburn then engaged in a
campaign of ULPs designed to undermine the Union’s support;
that, because of the serious nature of Cogburn’s ULPs, the
possibility of conducting a fair rerun election was only slight;
and that, in light of this situation, the rights of the employees
would be best served by the Board’s issuance of a bargaining
order.  The Board found that Cogburn had indeed engaged in
widespread violations of § 8(a)(1) of the National Labor
Relations Act (“Act”), 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(1) (2000), including,
but not limited to, unlawful surveillance, interrogations, threats,
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and prohibitions on wearing Union insignias.  The Board also
found that the Company had discharged five Union supporters
during the organizing campaign in violation of §§ 8(a)(1) and
(3) of the Act, and terminated a sixth employee because of her
Union activities and sympathies, and also because she gave
testimony for the Union in a representation proceeding, in
violation of §§ 8(a)(1), (3), and (4) of the Act.  See Cogburn
Healthcare Ctr., Inc., 335 N.L.R.B. 1397 (2001).  

 To remedy these violations, the Board ordered Cogburn,
inter alia, to cease and desist from engaging in any further
unfair labor practices, post appropriate notices to advise
employees of their rights under the Act, and reinstate the
unlawfully discharged  employees and make them whole for
their losses.  The Board also issued a Gissel bargaining order,
see NLRB v. Gissel Packing Co., 395 U.S. 575 (1969), and held
that Cogburn violated §§ 8(a)(1) and (5) of the Act by refusing
to bargain with the Union on April 18, 1996, when the Union
requested bargaining based on a card majority. 

Substantial evidence supports the Board’s determinations
that Cogburn committed the cited ULPs in violation of
§§ 8(a)(1), (3), and (4) of the Act.  We therefore enforce the
Board’s order with respect to these charges.  We reverse the
Board’s Gissel bargaining order, however, because the Board
failed to credit Cogburn’s properly raised evidence of “changed
circumstances” that arose during the more than three years when
the initial ULP case was pending disposition by the Board.  A
few more years passed during which Cogburn’s motions for
reconsideration languished before the Board.  Ten years have
now elapsed since Cogburn’s alleged refusal to bargain in April
1996, and there has been substantial turnover in the employee
and management ranks at Cogburn during this period.  In the
face of this record, the Board has offered no viable justification
for an affirmative bargaining order.  Under the plain law of this
circuit, we reverse the Board’s imposition of a Gissel bargaining
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order.  Accordingly, we grant in part and deny in part the
Board’s cross-petition for enforcement, and we grant in part and
deny in part Cogburn’s petition for review.  The Board’s order
will be enforced with respect to all disputed issues, save for the
Gissel bargaining order. 

I.   BACKGROUND

A. The Union’s Organizing Campaign

During the time period relevant to our inquiry, Cogburn was
a family-owned and operated nursing home providing medical
care in Mobile, Alabama.  In October 1995, the Union began a
campaign to organize Cogburn’s full-time and regular part-time
service and maintenance employees.  Over the course of the
following six-to-nine months, Union organizers distributed
leaflets and authorization cards to Cogburn employees who were
exiting and entering Company property.  On April 18, 1996,
after collecting signed authorization cards from a majority of the
service and maintenance employees, the Union unsuccessfully
sought to bargain with Cogburn on behalf of the employees.
The Union also petitioned the Board for a representation
election covering the employees.  The Board scheduled an
election for July 1996.

  Throughout the spring and early summer of 1996, the
Company engaged in a concerted campaign to undermine the
Union’s support.  Cogburn hired a “private police force”
consisting of approximately 35 off-duty Mobile city police
officers and installed surveillance equipment directed at the
front of the facility where the Union organizers were rallying
support.  The Company also required its employees to attend
mock collective bargaining sessions, at which they were
instructed to follow a script in which the Cogburn representative
rejected every Union offer.  Several Company supervisors and
Cogburn co-owner and Vice President, Steve Roberts, conducted
a series of “interrogations” – conversations during which they
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questioned employees about Union activities and their and other
employees’ feelings about the Union.  Finally, during the course
of the organizing campaign, six well-known Union supporters
were discharged for their Union activities and sympathies. 

The Board held a secret-ballot election on July 19, 1996.
Of the approximately 135 eligible voters, 52 cast votes in favor
of the Union, and 72 against.  The Union then filed ULP charges
with the Board.  After a series of hearings held between March
and September 1997, an Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”)
found that Cogburn had committed numerous violations of the
Act.  The ALJ recommended, inter alia, that the Company be
required to reinstate and grant backpay to the six discharged
employees and to bargain with the Union as the exclusive
representative of the employees.  Cogburn Healthcare Ctr., 335
N.L.R.B. at 1425-26. 

B. The Board’s Decisions

The Board finally issued a decision on September 27, 2001,
over three years after the ALJ’s decision.  The Board found, in
agreement with the ALJ, that Cogburn committed multiple
violations of § 8(a)(1) of the Act in response to the Union’s
organizing campaign.  These violations included:  coercively
interrogating employees; threatening employees with loss of
benefits, closure of the facility in the event of unionization, and
refusal to rehire any employee who engaged in protected strike
activity; telling employees that the employer would not have to
bargain with the Union; threatening in simulated bargaining
sessions that unionization would be futile; offering to increase
wages and benefits if the Union promised not to file additional
unfair labor practice charges or objections to the representation
election; engaging in surveillance of employee Union activity
with video cameras and a private police force; prohibiting
employees from wearing clothing reflecting Union membership
without permission; and permitting employees who opposed the
Union to leave their work stations and handbill while prohibiting
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prounion employees from doing so.  Id. at 1399-1400.  The
Board also accepted the ALJ’s finding that Cogburn violated
§§ 8(a)(1) and (3) of the Act by discharging employees Hill,
Husband, Wiggins, Langham, and Kirk, and violated §§ 8(a)(1),
(3), and (4) of the Act by discharging employee Collins because
of her Union sympathies and her testimony for the Union at a
Board representation hearing.  See id. at 1397.

The Board ordered Cogburn to cease and desist from the
unfair labor practices found and from interfering with,
restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of the rights
guaranteed by § 7 of the Act, 29 U.S.C. § 157 (2000).
Affirmatively, the Board ordered Cogburn, inter alia, to offer
reinstatement to Hill, Husband, Wiggins, Langham, Kirk, and
Collins, and make them whole for any loss of earnings and
benefits they suffered as a result of their unlawful discharges.
The Board also found that the pervasiveness of Cogburn’s unfair
labor practices placed this case in Gissel’s “category II,” and
thus rendered a fair rerun election unlikely.  Cogburn
Healthcare Ctr., 335 N.L.R.B. at 1398-99; see Gissel, 395 U.S.
at 614 (describing category II cases as “less extraordinary cases
marked by less pervasive practices which nonetheless still have
the tendency to undermine majority strength and impede the
election processes”).  The Board therefore directed that the July
19 election be set aside, and that Cogburn recognize the Union
and bargain upon request.  Cogburn Healthcare Ctr., 335
N.L.R.B. at 1403.  In support of the Gissel bargaining order, the
Board found that Cogburn violated §§ 8(a)(1) and (5) of the Act
by refusing to bargain with the Union on April 18, 1996, when
the Union demanded recognition and bargaining based on
authorization cards from a majority of the employees in the
designated unit.  Id. at 1397.

On November 2, 2001, soon after the Board’s order issued,
Cogburn moved to reopen the record, citing evidence of
“changed circumstances” that rendered the imposition of a
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bargaining order unnecessary.  Specifically, Cogburn alleged
that the long delay between the unfair labor practices in 1996
and the Board’s decision in 2001, as well as significant
employee and management turnover, made it clear that a
bargaining order was no longer justified.  

On June 21, 2004, two and a half years after Cogburn filed
its motion, the Board, with one member dissenting, denied the
Company’s motion to reopen the record.  The Board first noted
that Cogburn failed to comply with § 102.48(d)(1) of the
Board’s rules, which requires parties to state “‘why [the
evidence] was not presented previously.’”  Cogburn Healthcare
Ctr., Inc., 342 N.L.R.B. No. 11, 2004 WL 1413262, at *2 (June
21, 2004) (quoting 29 C.F.R. § 102.48(d)(1)) (alteration in
Board’s order).  The Board questioned why Cogburn “failed to
show that some or all of [its] evidence . . . was not available
during the [three-year] period that the case was pending before
the Board on exceptions.”  Id.  Without such an explanation, the
Board concluded that Cogburn’s motion “was untimely made.”
Id. 

In addition to the alleged procedural flaw in Cogburn’s
motion, the Board also found that Cogburn failed to demonstrate
how its additional evidence “‘would require a different result.’”
Id. at *3 (quoting 29 C.F.R. § 102.48(d)(1)).  The Board
reiterated its “established policy” that the propriety of a
bargaining order is assessed only “as of the time that the
[employer] committed the violations,” and not at the time of the
Board’s order.  Id.  The Board also pointed out that, even taking
into account the post-violation “changed circumstances” alleged
by Cogburn, two supervisors found to have committed various
unfair labor practices were still employed by the Company at the
time of Cogburn’s motion, and the Company did not claim “that
there has been any significant change in the family ownership
group, . . . other than the death of [former co-owner and Vice
President,] Steve Roberts.”  Id.  Finally, the Board declared that
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the “passage of time does not render a bargaining order
inappropriate.”  Id.

On August 5, 2004, Cogburn filed a second motion for
reconsideration, claiming that additional employee and
management turnover and the passage of time justified vacating
the Board’s bargaining order.  The Board denied Cogburn’s
motion.  The Company then filed a timely petition for review
and the Board filed a cross-application for enforcement of its
order. 

II.   ANALYSIS

A. Unfair Labor Practices

The Board’s findings that Cogburn committed the cited
violations of §§ 8(a)(1), (3), and (4) are “‘supported by
substantial evidence on the record considered as a whole.’”
Palace Sports & Entm’t, Inc. v. NLRB, 411 F.3d 212, 220 (D.C.
Cir. 2005) (quoting 29 U.S.C. § 160(e)-(f) (2000)).  The ALJ’s
discussion of the evidence, proposed findings, and
recommended remedies, nearly all of which were adopted by the
Board, are clearly unassailable under the applicable standard of
review.  We therefore have no grounds upon which to second-
guess the Board’s determinations with respect to the §§ 8(a)(1),
(3), and (4) ULPs.  

B. The Gissel Bargaining Order

1. Timeliness of Cogburn’s Motion for Reconsideration

Shortly after the Board issued its decision in September
2001, Cogburn moved to reopen the record.  The Company
argued that the Board should reconsider its decision to impose
a Gissel bargaining order due to “changed circumstances” that
arose during the several years when the ULP case was pending
disposition.  The Board denied the Company’s motion largely on
the ground that it was untimely.  Cogburn contends that the
Board erred in refusing to address its motion and credit its
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evidence of changed circumstances on this procedural ground.
We review the Board’s decision not to reopen the record for an
abuse of discretion.  E. Carolinas Broad. Co. v. FCC, 762 F.2d
95, 103 (D.C. Cir. 1985).

Citing its regulations, the Board contends that Cogburn
neglected to “‘state [why] the additional evidence sought to be
adduced . . . was not presented previously.’”  Br. for NLRB at
56 (quoting 29 C.F.R. § 102.48(d)(1)).  The Board’s finding on
this score is simply wrong.  In its motion to the Board, the
Company stated: 

Simply put, Cogburn cannot be expected to have presented
evidence of substantial employee turnover and management
changes which did not exist when this matter initially was
presented to the Board, more than three (3) years ago.
Indeed, the longer the Board delayed in issuing its decision,
the more changes occurred during the day to day operations
at Cogburn.  As such, Cogburn now should be permitted to
introduce evidence of changed circumstances.

Cogburn Healthcare Center Inc.’s Request to Reopen the Record
and for Reconsideration, Cogburn Healthcare Ctr., Inc. (Nov.
1, 2001) at 8, Joint Appendix (“J.A.”) 30 (hereinafter “Cogburn
Motion”).  It is plain that Cogburn explained that it did not
present evidence of changed circumstances when it filed its
1998 exceptions to the Board because those changes took place
over the ensuing three years.

The Board argues that Cogburn could have alerted the
Board to the “changed circumstances” during the three-year
interval between the ALJ’s decision and the Board’s order.  To
support this claim, the Board relies on the decision in NLRB v.
U.S.A. Polymer Corp., 272 F.3d 289 (5th Cir. 2001).  The Fifth
Circuit noted in Polymer that “[t]he Board’s procedural rules
permit an employer to submit a motion to reopen the record after
the ALJ’s decision but before the Board has ruled.”  Id. at 295.
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The decision added that “[t]he Board is entitled to assume, in the
face of the parties’ silence, that the facts as initially presented
continue to adequately describe the employer’s workforce.”  Id.
at 296.  But Polymer also makes it clear that “there is no clear
procedural vehicle for such a motion.”  Id. at 295.  In our view,
this last point is the most telling.  Nothing in the Board’s rules
required Cogburn to advise the Board of every changed
circumstance in its business operation and workforce between
the date of the ALJ’s decision and the Board’s final disposition
of the case.  And we will not infer such a requirement.  

The changed circumstances here were gradual, incremental,
and cumulative.  There was no single event at Cogburn which,
alone, gave clear evidence of “changed circumstances.”  Absent
a Board rule requiring it, Cogburn had no reason to think that it
was obliged to file a motion on every occasion of employee
turnover.  Cogburn acted reasonably under the circumstances
and the Board abused its discretion in rejecting Cogburn’s
motion as untimely.

2. The Board’s Treatment of Cogburn’s Evidence of
“Changed Circumstances”

Despite deeming Cogburn’s motion “untimely,” the Board
nonetheless went on to consider Cogburn’s claim that “changed
circumstances” now “require a different result,” or, more
precisely, a different remedy.  In its motion, Cogburn asserted
that a Gissel bargaining order was no longer necessary, because,
in the five years since the organizing campaign and election,
there had been substantial changes at the Company.  Examples
of these changes included the following information:  (1) only
44% of Cogburn’s 169 designated bargaining unit employees in
2001 were employed during the Union election campaign; (2) of
the 82 employees that signed authorization cards, only 25 were
still employed in 2001; (3) there had been significant
management turnover, including the death of the Company’s co-
owner and Vice President, Steve Roberts, who was identified by
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the Board as a major perpetrator of Cogburn’s ULPs, and the
replacement of Company co-owner and Administrator, Suzanne
Hughes, who was also responsible for various ULPs; and (4)
subsequent to the ALJ’s decision in 1998, no ULP charges had
been filed.  See Cogburn Motion at 2, 5-6, J.A. 24, 27-28.  Based
on these developments and the long passage of time between the
alleged ULPs and the issuance of the bargaining order, Cogburn
argued that it was now possible for the Board to hold a fair and
impartial election.  Id. at 8, J.A. 30.

This court has, on numerous occasions, directed the Board
to provide a reasoned analysis when considering the imposition
of a bargaining order.  See, e.g., Douglas Foods Corp. v. NLRB,
251 F.3d 1056, 1065 (D.C. Cir. 2001); Vincent Indus. Plastics,
Inc. v. NLRB, 209 F.3d 727, 738 (D.C. Cir. 2000); Flamingo
Hilton-Laughlin v. NLRB, 148 F.3d 1166, 1170 (D.C. Cir.
1998); Avecor, Inc. v. NLRB, 931 F.2d 924, 937-39 (D.C. Cir.
1991).  The required analysis must contain “an explicit
balancing of three considerations:  (1) the employees’ § 7 rights;
(2) whether other purposes of the Act override the rights of
employees to choose their bargaining representatives; and (3)
whether alternative remedies are adequate to remedy the
violations of the Act.”  Vincent Indus., 209 F.3d at 738.
Furthermore – and most relevant here – we have made it clear
that the Board must consider the appropriateness of a bargaining
order at the time the order is issued.  See Charlotte
Amphitheater Corp. v. NLRB, 82 F.3d 1074, 1079 (D.C. Cir.
1996); Avecor, 931 F.2d at 937.

The Board may have undertaken a thorough Gissel analysis
with respect to the information it had at the time of its original
order in 2001.  See Cogburn Healthcare Ctr., 335 N.L.R.B. at
1398-1401.  But its analysis failed when Cogburn proffered
evidence of “changed circumstances.”  In response to Cogburn’s
motion to reopen the record, the Board stated:  
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Although [Cogburn] has recited changed circumstances as
grounds for rescinding the Gissel order, the Board’s
established policy is to assess the propriety of a bargaining
order as of the time that the respondent committed the
violations.  We therefore conclude that [Cogburn]’s motion
does not comply with the Board’s Rules.

Cogburn Healthcare Ctr., 2004 WL 1413262, at *3.  The
Board’s decision on this point was wrong as a matter of law.  As
we explained in Charlotte Amphitheater:

Circumstances . . . may change during the interval between
the occurrence of the employer’s unfair labor practices and
the Board’s disposition of a case.   There is, therefore, the
obvious danger that a bargaining order that is intended to
vindicate the rights of past employees will infringe upon the
rights of the current ones to decide whether they wish to be
represented by a union.  Therefore, we have repeatedly
instructed the Board to determine the appropriateness of a
Gissel bargaining order in light of the circumstances
existing at the time it is entered.

82 F.3d at 1078 (emphasis added).  “If the Board continues to
disagree with us, it is of course free to seek Supreme Court
review.”  Id. at 1079.  But “[s]o long as the Board persists on its
current course we have no choice but to remand each offending
order.”  Douglas Foods, 251 F.3d at 1067.

The Board points out that in Charlotte Amphitheater, this
court stated that “‘the Board has no affirmative duty to inquire
whether employee turnover or [the] passage of time has
attenuated the effects of earlier unfair labor practices.’”  Br. for
NLRB at 53 (quoting Charlotte Amphitheater, 82 F.3d at 1080).
But our decision in Charlotte Amphitheater also states that “an
employer must be allowed the opportunity to introduce evidence
of changed circumstances that would mitigate the need for a
bargaining order.”  Charlotte Amphitheater, 82 F.3d at 1080.
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There is no doubt here that the Board was obligated to consider
thoroughly Cogburn’s timely motion to reopen the record. 

The little bit that the Board offered in a defense of the
proposed Gissel bargaining order falls far short of what is
necessary.  With respect to Cogburn’s claims of management
turnover – the death of co-owner and Company Vice President,
Steve Roberts, and the departure of co-owner and Company
Administrator, Suzanne Hughes – the Board responded that
Hughes’s replacement, Prentiss Smith, played a role in illegally
thwarting the Union’s organizing drive in 1996, and added that
Dietary Manager, Sonya O’Shea, who was found to have
interrogated three employees and threatened other employees
with facility closure, had been rehired after a two-year absence
from the Company.  The Board also claimed that Cogburn “d[id]
not contend that there has been any significant change in the
family ownership group, . . . other than the death of Steve
Roberts.”  Cogburn Healthcare Ctr., 2004 WL 1413262, at *3.
The Board said nothing about employee turnover.  Rather, in
response to Cogburn’s evidence of the dwindling percentage of
voting employees still employed by the Company (44%) and the
small percentage of those employees still with the Company
who signed authorization cards (30%), Board counsel argued
that 44% is a “substantial percentage” which constitutes a
“remaining core of employees” sufficient to support a
bargaining order.  Br. for NLRB at 58 (quotation marks
omitted).

The Board’s rote treatment of Cogburn’s evidence is
entirely unconvincing.  For one thing, as noted above, the Board
simply ignored the evidence of employee turnover.  This error
alone dooms the Board’s order, for we have made it clear that
“the Board is not free to disregard employee turnover when
issuing a bargaining order.”  Douglas Foods, 251 F.3d at 1066;
see also Avecor, 931 F.2d at 937.
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Moreover, the Board’s cursory review of the change in
Company management hardly reflects reasoned decisionmaking
to which we might otherwise defer.  The Board summarily
discounted the departure of two of the most prominent
executives of the Company, who were significantly responsible
for approximately 15 ULPs, five of the 15 instances of unlawful
interrogations, and four of the six discharges.  The Board
undertook no analysis of the effect these changes might have
had on the employees and, instead, merely concluded that,
because two management officials still remained, a bargaining
order was the appropriate remedy.  And the Board’s suggestion
that Cogburn “does not contend that there has been any
significant change in the family ownership group,” without
more, proves nothing.  The Board never made the ownership
group the main culprit for the ULPs; rather the Board’s focus in
the ULP case was on the management group, and most of the
cited managers are no longer with the Company. 

Finally, the Board failed to address Cogburn’s perfectly
reasonable argument that the five-year span of time between the
ULPs and the Board’s decision warranted a second look at the
need for a bargaining order.  The Board stated, without
explanation, that the “passage of time does not render a
bargaining order inappropriate.”  Cogburn Healthcare Ctr.,
2004 WL 1413262, at *3.  This is a specious argument, both as
a matter of commonsense and in light of the governing case law.
Time is a factor that should be considered by the Board, along
with employee and management turnover.  See Flamingo
Hilton-Laughlin, 148 F.3d at 1171; Charlotte Amphitheater, 82
F.3d at 1078.  As we noted in Peoples Gas System, Inc. v.
NLRB:

[W]ith the passage of time, any coercive effects of an unfair
labor practice may dissipate, employee turnover may result
in a work force with no interest in the Union, and a fair



15

election might be held which accurately reflects uncoerced
employee wishes as of the present time.

629 F.2d 35, 47 (D.C. Cir. 1980).  This matter is now 10 years
old, largely because of the Board’s extraordinary delays in case
processing.  In this situation, it is the height of chutzpah for the
Board to pronounce that the passage of time is irrelevant. 

C. The Appropriate Remedies

There is little question that the Board’s order to reinstate
and make whole the six discharged employees is an appropriate
remedy, as is the Board’s cease and desist order.  The Board’s
affirmative bargaining order is another matter, however.  The
law of this circuit, which the Board flouted, compels reversal of
the Gissel bargaining order.  In some cases involving a disputed
bargaining order, we will remand the case to the Board for
further consideration.  In this instance, however, a remand
would be fruitless, because the record in this case cannot support
a bargaining order. 

Cogburn tells us that, were we to remand the case, the
Board would find that, at least as of 2004, only 21 of the 82
members of the proposed bargaining unit who signed
authorization cards are still employed by the Company.  It
would also learn that, as of 2004, Steve Roberts and Suzanne
Hughes were no longer running the day-to-day operation of the
Company.  And it would learn that Prentiss Smith, whose
presence the Board found significant in its denial of Cogburn’s
first motion to reopen the record, has been replaced as the acting
administrator.  We need not credit these additional “changed
circumstances,” however, in order to justify a reversal in this
case.

As noted above, the Board’s decision rejecting Cogburn’s
motion to reopen the record gave no hint of reasoned
decisionmaking and it was wrong as a matter of law.  Indeed, the
Board made it clear that it had no intention of following the law
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of this circuit.  The telling point here is that more than a decade
has passed since a majority of employees in the unit signed
authorization cards, making it nearly impossible for the Board
to determine whether a majority of today’s workforce at
Cogburn desires Union representation.  At this late stage, only
a new election can accomplish that goal.

III.   CONCLUSION

For the reasons articulated herein, we grant in part and deny
in part Cogburn’s petition for review, and we grant in part and
deny in part the Board’s cross-application for enforcement.  We
affirm the Board’s substantive conclusions and enforce the
Board’s remedial order insofar as it requires the Company to
cease and desist all unfair labor practices, post notices, and make
whole and offer employment to former Cogburn employees Hill,
Husband, Wiggins, Langham, Kirk, and Collins.  Finally, we
hold that there is simply no basis in this record for an
affirmative bargaining order or the Board’s finding that Cogburn
failed to bargain in violation of §§ 8(a)(1) and (5).



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


